
1 
 

CITY OF DELAWARE 
CITY COUNCIL 

CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS 
1 SOUTH SANDUSKY STREET 

7:00 P.M.  
 

AGENDA 
 
6:30 P.M. EXECUTIVE SESSION: pursuant to Ohio Revised Code Section 
121.22 (G) (3) pending or imminent court action, Section 121.22 (G) (1) 
personnel, Section 121.22 (G) (5) matters required to be kept confidential by 
State statute, Section 121.22 (G) (2) acquisition of property for public purpose 
and 121.22(G) (8) consideration of confidential information related to a request 
for economic development assistance. 
 
7:00 P.M. REGULAR MEETING January 27, 2020 
 
1. ROLL CALL 

 
2. INVOCATION – Pastor Donnie Akers, Eastside Mission Church 

 
3. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  

 
4. APPROVAL of the Motion Summary of the Regular Meeting of Council 

held on January 13, 2020 as recorded and transcribed. 
APPROVAL of the Work Session meeting of Council held on January 6, 
2020, as recorded and transcribed.  
 

5. CONSENT AGENDA 
A. Acceptance of the Motion Summary of the Sister City Advisory 

Board Meeting held on October 8, 2019, as recorded and 
transcribed 

B. Acceptance of the Motion Summary of the Planning Commission 
Meeting held on December 4, 2019, as recorded and transcribed. 

C. Acceptance of the Motion Summary of Airport Commission meeting 
held on May 16, 2019, as recorded and transcribed. 

D. Resolution No. 20-08, a resolution establishing a 6:00 p.m. start 
time for the February 10, 2020 City Council Meeting.  

E. Resolution No. 20-09, a resolution appointing the initial appointed 
member of the Board of Directors of the Berkshire Township Joint 
Economic Development District No. 2 representing owners of 
businesses located with the district.  

F. Resolution No. 20-10, a resolution appointing members to various 
boards, commissions, and/or committees, and specifying the term 



2 
 

of the appointments.  
G. Resolution 20-11, a resolution authorizing the City Manager to 

submit grant applications to the Federal Aviation Administration 
and the Ohio Department of Transportation, and to enter into 
required agreements for the design and construction of Ramp B 
Pavement Resurfacing Improvements.  

H. Resolution No. 20-12, a resolution authorization the addition of a 
mid-block crosswalk to Carson Farms Park between 736-748 
Canal Street and 735-745 Canal Street and Modification of certain 
traffic control signage to add a No Parking zone on the north and 
south sides of Canal Street 20 feet west and east of the mid-block 
crosswalk.  

I. Establish February 10, 2020 at 6:30 p.m. as a date and time for a 
public hearing and second reading for Ordinance No. 20-01, an 
ordinance levying a $5.00 Motor Vehicle License Charge as 
authorized by Section 4505.173 of the Ohio Revised Code.  

 
6. LETTERS, PETITIONS, AND PUBLIC COMMENTS 

 
7. COMMITTEE REPORTS 

 
8. PRESENTATION 

A. Presentation on Black History Month 2020 by Reverend Tracey 
Sumner Sr., Delaware African American Heritage Council 

 
9. STAFF INTRODUCTION 

A. Justin Nahvi, Finance Director 
 

10. FOURTH READING of Ordinance No. 19-63, an ordinance accepting the 
annexation of 43.847±  acres of land more or less, description and map 
are attached hereto as exhibits “A” and “B” for the annexation known as 
The Evans Farm Delaware LLC Annexation by Andrew Wecker, agent for 
the petitioners.  
 

11. CONSIDERATION of Resolution No. 20-13, a resolution accepting 
negotiated changes to the Ohio Council #8 American Federation of State, 
County and Municipal Employees, and Local 3934 (AFSCME-Clerical) 
Employees Agreement with the City of Delaware.  
 

12. CONSIDERATION of Ordinance No. 20-01, an ordinance levying a $5.00 
Motor Vehicle License Charge as authorized by Section 4504.173 of the 
Ohio Revised Code.  
 



3 
 

13. CONSIDERATION of Ordinance No. 20-02, an ordinance approving a 
Combined Preliminary and Final Development Plan for an expansion to 
Charter NEX at 1188 South Houk Road on property zoned M-2 (General 
Manufacturing District) which encompasses approximately 21.783 acres.  
 

14. CONSIDERATION of Ordinance No. 20-03, an ordinance approving a 
Final Development Plan request by Grden LLC, for Winterbrook Place 
Phase 1 on 30.452 acres containing 66 single family lots on property 
zoned R-3 PMU (One Family Residential District with a Planned Mixed-
Use Overlay District) and located on Winterbourne Drive, Sienna Glenn 
Drive, Mahogany Drive, Gardenia Lane and Silver Pine Lane.  
 

15. CONSIDERATION of Ordinance No. 20-04, an ordinance approving a 
Final Subdivision Plat request by Grden LLC, for Winterbrook Place 
Phase 1 on 30.452 acres containing 66 single family lots on property 
zoned R-3 PMU (One Family Residential District with a Planned Mixed-
Use Overlay District) and located on Winterbourne Drive, Sienna Glenn 
Drive, Mahogany Drive, Gardenia Lane and Silver Pine Lane.  
 

16. FINANCE DIRECTOR’S REPORT 
 

17. CITY MANAGER’S REPORT 
 

18. COUNCIL COMMENTS 
 

19. ADJOURNMENT 
 

 
 







































  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  CONSENT ITEM D DATE: 01/27/2020 
 
ORDINANCE NO:     RESOLUTION NO: 20-08 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  ---- 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING A 6:00 P.M. START TIME FOR THE 
FEBRUARY 10, 2020 CITY COUNCIL MEETING.    
 
BACKGROUND: 
The February 10, 2020 City Council meeting start time needs to be changed to 
accommodate the annual joint meeting with the Delaware City School Board.  
This joint meeting is to begin at 7:00 p.m. at the Willis Educational Center.  
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED:  
This legislation provides notice to the public of a deviation from the regular 
meeting schedule.  
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
Carolyn Kay Riggle, Mayor 



 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
 



RESOLUTION 20-08 
 

A RESOLUTION ESTABLISHING A 6:00 P.M. START 
TIME FOR THE FEBRUARY 10, 2020 CITY COUNCIL 
MEETING.  

 
 WHEREAS, City Council meets the second and fourth Monday of each 
month at 7:00 p.m.; and 
 
 WHEREAS, the 6:00 p.m. start time for the February 10, 2020 City 
Council meeting is necessary to allow for Council to have the annual joint 
meeting with the Delaware City School Board at the Willis Education Center at 
7:00 p.m. 
 
  NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED, by the Council of the City 
of Delaware, State of Ohio: 

 
SECTION 1.   That the February 10, 2020 regular meeting of City Council 
will start at 6:00 p.m.  
 
SECTION 2. That this resolution shall take effect and be in force 

immediately after its passage. 
 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2020 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  CONSENT ITEM E DATE: 01/27/2020 
 
ORDINANCE NO:     RESOLUTION NO: 20-09 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  Darren Shulman, City Attorney 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
A RESOLUTION APPOINTING THE INITIAL CITY APPOINTED MEMBER OF 
THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS OF THE BERKSHIRE TOWNSHIP JOINT 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2 REPRESENTING OWNERS OF 
BUSINESSES LOCATED WITHIN THE DISTRICT. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
In 2015, the City and Berkshire Township entered into a Joint Economic 
Development District agreement.  That agreement included a provision for the 
parties to work together on future agreements. Based on expected 
development, the parties approved a second JEDD. The JEDD statute and the 
JEDD contract provide that the Township will appoint an individual 
representing the Township and an individual representing “the persons 
working with the JEDD”.  The City was to appoint an individual representing 
the City, and an individual representing “the owners of businesses located 
within the JEDD”.  Council approved the appointment of City Manager Tom 
Homan as a City representative in Resolution 19-50.  This resolution appoints 
Economic Development Director Sean Hughes to represent the owners of 
businesses located within the JEDD.    This is an “interim” appointment until 
such time as the JEDD is operational.  
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 



N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
Darren Shulman, City Attorney 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval  
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
First Amendment to JEDD 2 Contract 
Resolution No. 19-50 



RESOLUTION NO. 20-09 
 

A RESOLUTION APPOINTING THE INITIAL CITY 
APPOINTED MEMBER OF THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS OF THE BERKSHIRE TOWNSHIP JOINT 
ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT DISTRICT NO. 2 
REPRESENTING OWNERS OF BUSINESSES 
LOCATED WITHIN THE DISTRICT. 

 
WHEREAS, Berkshire Township (Delaware County), Ohio (the 

“Township”) and the City of Delaware, Ohio (the “City”) have approved, 
executed and delivered a Joint Economic Development District Contract (the 
“JEDD Contract”) creating the Berkshire Township Joint Economic 
Development District No. 2 (the “JEDD”); and 
 

WHEREAS, the JEDD Contract provides that the City is to appoint one 
member to the Board of Directors of the JEDD (the “Board”) to represent the 
owners of businesses; and 

 
WHEREAS, the JEDD Contract provides that the City is to appoint one 

member to the Board of Directors of the JEDD (the “Board”) to represent the 
city.  City Manager Tom Homan was appointed to this position in Resolution 
19-50. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of 

Delaware, State of Ohio, that: 
  
SECTION 1.  Sean Hughes is hereby appointed to the Board to represent 

the City for a term commencing the first day of the month in which the Board 
holds its first meeting and terminating one year thereafter. 

 
SECTION 2.   All formal actions of this Council and any of its committees 

concerning and relating to the adoption of this Resolution, and all deliberations 
of Council and of any of its committees that resulted in those formal actions, 
occurred in meetings open to the public in compliance with the law. 

 
SECTION 3.   This Resolution shall be in full force and effect immediately 

upon its adoption. 
 
 

PASSED: _________________________, 2020 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________     ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 











  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  CONSENT ITEM F DATE: 01/27/2020 
 
ORDINANCE NO:     RESOLUTION NO: 20-10 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  --- 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
A RESOLUTION APPOINTING MEMBERS TO VARIOUS BOARDS, 
COMMISSIONS, AND/OR COMMITTEES, AND SPECIFYING THE TERM OF THE 
APPOINTMENTS. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
  
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
Carolyn Kay Riggle, Mayor 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 



RESOLUTION NO. 20-10 
 

A RESOLUTION APPOINTING MEMBERS TO VARIOUS 
BOARDS, COMMISSIONS, AND/OR COMMITTEES, AND 
SPECIFYING THE TERM OF THE APPOINTMENTS. 

 
WHEREAS, Members are to be appointed to serve on various Committees, 

Commissions and Boards by the Mayor of the City of Delaware and confirmed by 
Council; and 

 
 WHEREAS, the Mayor has appointed, and Council has confirmed the 
following appointments. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware that: 
 

SECTION 1.  The following appointments are hereby made: 
 
1. Delaware City/County Board of Health – Dolores Smith, City 

Representative: Re-Appointment (term expiring March 31, 2025) 
 

SECTION 2.  This resolution shall be effective immediately upon its passage. 
 
 
PASSED:                                    , 2020  YEAS        NAYS ____ 
        ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: ________________________________ ____________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



FACT SHEET

AGENDA ITEM NO:  CONSENT ITEM G DATE: 01/27/2020 

ORDINANCE NO:  RESOLUTION NO: 20-11 

READING: FIRST  PUBLIC HEARING: NO 

TO: Mayor and Members of City Council  

FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 

VIA: William L. Ferrigno, P.E., Director of Public Works 

TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION: 
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER TO SUBMIT GRANT 
APPLICATIONS TO THE FEDERAL AVIATION ADMINISTRATION AND THE 
OHIO DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION, AND TO ENTER INTO REQUIRED 
AGREEMENTS FOR THE DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION OF RAMP B 
PAVEMENT RESURFACING IMPROVEMENTS.

BACKGROUND: 
The City of Delaware is requesting $49,400 in Ohio Department of 
Transportation funds for the design of resurfacing improvements of Ramp B at 
the Delaware Municipal Airport.  This amount represents 95% of the total 
estimated project cost based on preliminary design.  The Local match is 
$2,600.  An additional application for Federal funding will be submitted in 
2021 requesting $304,000 for the construction of improvements.  The 
anticipated local match to the construction grant is $16,000. 

REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED:  
FAA and the State of Ohio requires consent legislation from local jurisdictions 
requesting State and Federal aviation funding. 

COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION:   
Approved by Airport Commission 1/16/20 

FISCAL IMPACT(S):  



 
Requires local financial participation of 5% currently estimated to be $2,600 for 
the planned design activity.  
 
POLICY CHANGES:   
None 
 
PRESENTER(S):  
William L. Ferrigno, P.E., Director of Public Works 
 
RECOMMENDATION:   
Approval 
 
ATTACHMENT(S)  
Airport Map Pavement Rating Map 
 



RESOLUTION NO. 20-11 
 
 A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE CITY MANAGER 

TO SUBMIT GRANT APPLICATIONS TO THE FEDERAL 
AVIATION ADMINISTRATION AND THE OHIO 
DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION, AND TO 
ENTER INTO REQUIRED AGREEMENTS FOR THE 
DESIGN AND CONSTRUCTION OF RAMP B 
PAVEMENT RESURFACING IMPROVEMENTS. 

 
WHEREAS, the City of Delaware is responsible for operating and 

maintaining the Delaware Municipal Airport; and 
 
 WHEREAS, it has been determined that the condition of pavement on 

Ramp ‘B’ has fallen below recommended minimum pavement conditions and is 
in need of reconstruction; and 

 
WHEREAS, the City is eligible to apply for Federal Aviation 

Administration and State of Ohio Grant funds for eligible airport improvement 
projects. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL OF THE CITY 

OF DELAWARE, OHIO THAT: 
 
SECTION 1.  That the City Manager is hereby authorized to make 

application for said program grants in accordance with the procedures 
prescribed by the FAA and State of Ohio. 

 
SECTION 2.  That the City Manager is hereby authorized to enter into 

necessary agreements associated with the grants and be bound by all terms 
and conditions contained within the application for funding.  
 

SECTION 3. That this resolution shall be in force and effect immediately 
upon its passage. 

 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2020 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 





  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  CONSENT ITEM H DATE: 1/27/2020 
 
ORDINANCE NO:     RESOLUTION NO: 20-12 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
        
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  William L. Ferrigno, P.E., Public Works Director/City Engineer 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ADDITION OF A MID-BLOCK CROSSWALK 
TO CARSON FARMS PARK BETWEEN 736-748 CANAL STREET AND 735-745 
CANAL STREET AND MODIFICATION OF CERTAIN TRAFFIC CONTROL 
SIGNAGE TO ADD A NO PARKING ZONE ON THE NORTH AND SOUTH SIDES 
OF CANAL STREET 20 FEET WEST AND EAST OF THE MID-BLOCK 
CROSSWALK.  
  
BACKGROUND:  
Residents that attended the Neighborhood Speeding Meeting on September 16, 
2019 voiced safety concerns of the pedestrians crossing Canal Street to access 
Carson Farms Park between the properties 736-748 and 735-745 Canal Street.  
Their concerns are that there is not a marked crosswalk nor are there curb ramps 
at this location and pedestrians use it on a daily basis.   Staff reviewed the 
request and found that the grass in the area where the crosswalk would be 
proposed is worn down indicating that there is an unmarked path that 
pedestrians are using today.  Staff recommended that a mid-block crosswalk be 
added, which would include the addition of curb ramps, pedestrian warning 
signage, marked crosswalk and no parking signage 20-feet west and east of the 
crosswalk per codified ordinance 351.03.  See Exhibit A for proposed curb ramp 
and crosswalk location and no parking zones per the codified ordinance.  The 
addition of the proposed mid-block crosswalk with signage and pavement 
markings would be installed by the spring of 2020. 



 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED:  
The placement of regulatory signage requires City Council authorization for 
permanent enforcement. 
  
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION:   
The action is being taken as a result of the Parking and Safety Committee 
recommendation at the October 21, 2019 meeting. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
The cost to complete the worked outlined in Exhibit A is $6,000 to come out of 
the Public Works Street and Traffic Division annual operating budget. 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
 None 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
William L. Ferrigno, P.E., Public Works Director/City Engineer 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Approval 
   
ATTACHMENT(S) 
 Exhibit A 



RESOLUTION NO. 20-12 
 

A RESOLUTION AUTHORIZING THE ADDITION OF A 
MID-BLOCK CROSSWALK TO CARSON FARMS PARK 
BETWEEN 736-748 CANAL STREET AND 735-745 
CANAL STREET AND MODIFICATION OF CERTAIN 
TRAFFIC CONTROL SIGNAGE TO ADD A NO PARKING 
ZONE ON THE NORTH AND SOUTH SIDES OF CANAL 
STREET 20 FEET WEST AND EAST OF THE MID-
BLOCK CROSSWALK.  
 

WHEREAS, the addition of the mid-block crosswalk has been requested to 
provide for safe maneuverability of pedestrians across Canal Street to Carson 
Farms Park; and 

 
WHEREAS, the addition of the No Parking Zone on the north and south 

sides of Canal Street 20 feet west and east of the mid-block crosswalk is required 
per codified ordinance 351.03; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Parking and Safety Committee has endorsed this 

restriction by a 3-0 vote at the October 21, 2019 meeting. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE COUNCIL FOR THE CITY 
OF DELAWARE, STATE OF OHIO: 
 

SECTION 1.   The mid-block crosswalk will be added to Carson Farms Park 
between the properties of 736-748 Canal Street and 735-745 Canal Street. 

 
SECTION 2.   The no parking zone will be added on the north and south 

sides of Canal Street 20 feet west and east of the mid-block crosswalk per 
codified ordinance 351.03. 

   
SECTION 3.   That this resolution shall take effect and be in force 

immediately after its passage. 
 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2020 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 





B L A C K  

H I S T O R Y  

M O N T H

2 0 2 0
M A K I N G  C H A N G E  V I S I B L E
T H R O U G H  O U R  V O I C E  A N D  V O T E

F O R  E V E N T  I N F O R M A T I O N  C O N T A C T  U S  A T :  
D A A H C I N F O @ G M A I L . C O M  O R  @ D E L A W A R E A A H C  O N  F A C E B O O K

DELAWARE CITY SCHOOLS
BLACK HISTORY MONTH

PRESENTATION
6 PM TO 8 PM

WILLIS EDCUATION CENTER
74 W. WILLIAM ST. 

 

Support local students as they
express the Black History Month

theme through visual and
 creative arts. 

SOUL FOOD 
SOIREE

1  PM TO 4PM
FOOD TRUCK DEPOT
190 E. CENTRAL AVE.

 

Join us as we close out Black History
Month with food that's good for your

soul! This event will feature
 black-owned vendors including J.
Gumbo's, What the French Toast,

Jimmie G's BBQ, Omar's Caribbean
Cuisine along with music, games 

and prizes! 
 

*Food available for purchase.

COLORISM, ANTI-BLACK

RACISM & WHITE SUPREMACY 

2 PM TO 5 PM
DELAWARE COUNTY 

DISTRICT LIBRARY
84 W. WINTER ST. 

 
Come and learn about the historical

and cultural contexts of white
supremacy and anti-black racisms.
Facilitators will be Johnnie Jackson,
MBA and Whitney Gherman, MSW. 

C A L E N D A R  O F  E V E N T S

# D A A H C B H M 2 0

WEDNESDAY, FEB. 12 SATURDAY, FEB. 29SATURDAY, FEB. 8



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  10    DATE: 01/27/2020 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 19-63    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: FOURTH    PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  Dave Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE ACCEPTING THE ANNEXATION OF 43.847± ACRES OF LAND 
MORE OR LESS, DESCRIPTION AND MAP ARE ATTACHED HERETO AS 
EXHIBITS “A” AND “B” FOR THE ANNEXATION KNOWN AS THE EVANS FARM 
DELAWARE, LLC ANNEXATION BY ANDREW WECKER, AGENT FOR THE 
PETITIONERS. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
 
01/27/2020 UPDATE:  Please see attached memo dated January 23, 2020.  
 
01/13/2020 UPDATE: On December 27, 2019, the Applicant shared a 
projection of possible revenues should Evans Farm be a part of the Delaware 
South NCA. The intent behind this projection would be an equivalent financial 
contribution made by the Applicant.  Staff is currently reviewing these 
projections. 
 
11/18/2019 UPDATE: In consultation with the applicant’s attorney, staff has 
determined that the date the annexation must be voted on is March 9, 2020, 
which is a significant extension from the previously calculated date.  The City 
continues to work with the applicant on a resolution to the overlapping of New 
Community Authorities.  
 



This process involves several steps and actions by the County and City in order 
for an annexation to ultimately be accepted by the City.  The City took the first 
city step in the process which required determination of services the City could 
provide – the Resolution of Services passed August 12, 2019 via Resolution 19-
37.  The legislation before City Council currently is the final acceptance of 
annexation which would bring the property into the City.  City Council must 
decide to accept, accept with conditions, or deny the annexation.  If no action is 
taken by the ORC dictated time frame ending on March 9, 2020, ORC dictates 
that the annexation will be automatically denied.   The Applicant has brought a 
concept plan forward to Planning Commission for initial feedback which was 
generally well received by the Commission.  The Applicant has previously stated 
they wished to begin their zoning, preliminary plan, and preliminary plat process 
prior to annexation acceptance though Staff has not received applicants as of 
the date of writing.  At this time the earliest hearing date for these if applied for 
today would be the January 6, 2020 Planning Commission meeting.   
Perhaps the most important issue remaining to be agreed upon with the 
annexation is related to the inclusion of the property into the Delaware South 
New Community Authority as other properties are within this southeast area of 
the community.  Evans Farm is already included within its own NCA which is a 
complicating factor in this discussion.  City administration has offered the 
Applicant several alternatives that would address the issue but no conclusion 
has been reached as of the time of writing.  The options presented include:  (1) 
Pay the present value of the expected Delaware South NCA revenue that would 
have been collected if they joined the Delaware South NCA; (2) Direct the existing 
Evans Farm NCA to pay the City what the Delaware South NCA charge would 
collect until the Delaware South NCA debt is paid.  
 
Multiple readings of this annexation are anticipated as a result.  Because the 
final ORC required deadline is March 9, 2020, Council’s 3/19/20 is the final 
meeting date at which a decision would need to be made to avoid an automatic 
ORC denial of the annexation. 
 
Finally, as was noted in the Fact Sheet for the Resolution of Services for this 
annexation, Staff suggests several conditions of annexation that will provide 
certainty and clarity to the City as well as the Applicant: 
 

1. The applicant shall include the property in the Delaware South New 
Community Authority or make an equivalent financial contribution as 
determined by the City. 

2. A $1,000 per dwelling unit additional transportation fee shall be required 
similar to other properties in the area to ensure needed transportation 
improvements in the area. 

3. The property is within the South East Highland trunk sewer district 
requiring an additional sewer capacity charge of $3,200 per dwelling unit 
in addition to the standard and customary capacity fees of the city in effect 
at the time of permitting. 



4. The extension of any needed infrastructure for water, sewer, or roadways 
shall be at the cost to the development and as required by the City through 
the normal and customary development review process. 

5. Transportation considerations to be determined in final form through the 
zoning and development review process: 

a. Road connectivity shall be required to adjacent property. 
b. Any roadway connections to Peachblow Rd. shall be coordinated 

with the Delaware County Engineer as well as the city. 

 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
The Ohio Revised Code provides the process that annexations must follow 
throughout Ohio.  This legislation is the final City step in the process to formally 
accept the annexation of the property.  The City has until March 9, 2020 to pass 
this acceptance of annexation Ordinance or it is considered by ORC to be denied.   
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
 
PRESENTER(S): 
Dave Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
Memo 
County Resolution  
Petition 
Map 
City Resolution  



ORDINANCE NO. 19-63 
 

AN ORDINANCE ACCEPTING THE ANNEXATION OF 
43.847± ACRES OF LAND MORE OR LESS, 
DESCRIPTION AND MAP ARE ATTACHED HERETO AS 
EXHIBITS “A” AND “B” FOR THE ANNEXATION KNOWN 
AS THE EVANS FARM DELAWARE, LLC ANNEXATION 
BY ANDREW WECKER, AGENT FOR THE PETITIONERS. 

 
WHEREAS, Andrew Wecker, agent for the petitioners, has filed with the 

Delaware County Commissioners for annexation of 43.847 acres of land, more or 
less, the description and map are attached hereto as Exhibits A and B; and 
 

WHEREAS, Andrew Wecker, as agent for the petitioners on August 5, 2019 
delivered to the Clerk of the Delaware City Council the notice of his filing of the 
annexation petition with the Board of County Commissioners of Delaware County 
and its clerk on August 5, 2019; and 
 

WHEREAS, the Ohio Revised Code requires that within 20 days following 
the date the petition is filed, the City Council shall, by resolution, adopt a 
statement as to what services, if any, the City will provide and an approximate 
date by which it will provide them to the territory proposed for annexation, upon 
annexation, which was completed when City Council passed a Resolution of 
Services on August 12, 2019 via Resolution 19-37; and 

 
WHEREAS, the proposed annexation applied for in the petition to the 

Delaware County Commissioners has been approved, by them for annexation to 
the City of Delaware on September 5, 2019 (See attached).  The territory to be 
annexed is described in the attached Exhibits “A” and “B”; and 
 

WHEREAS, the certified transcript of the proceedings for annexation, with 
an accurate map of the territory, together with the petition of annexation and 
other papers relating to the proceedings of the County Commissioners, are on file 
with the Clerk of Council, and have been for more than sixty days. 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 

Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1.  That Council hereby accepts the annexation of 43.847 acres of 
land, description and plat of which are hereby attached as Exhibits “A” and “B” on 
the annexation known as the Evans Farm Delaware, LLC by Andrew Wecker, 
agent for the petitioners with the following conditions that: 
 

1. The applicant shall include the property in the Delaware South New 
Community Authority or make an equivalent financial contribution as 
determined by the City. 



2. A $1,000 per dwelling unit additional transportation fee shall be required 
similar to other properties in the area to ensure needed transportation 
improvements in the area. 

3. The property is within the South East Highland trunk sewer district 
requiring an additional sewer capacity charge of $3,200 per dwelling unit in 
addition to the standard and customary capacity fees of the city in effect at 
the time of permitting. 

4. The extension of any needed infrastructure for water, sewer, or roadways 
shall be at the cost to the development and as required by the City through 
the normal and customary development review process. 

5. Transportation considerations to be determined in final form through the 
zoning and development review process: 

a. Road connectivity shall be required to adjacent property. 
b. Any roadway connections to Peachblow Rd. shall be coordinated with 

the Delaware County Engineer as well as the city. 

 
SECTION 2.  That the Clerk of Council is directed to make five copies of this 

ordinance, to each of which shall be attached a copy of the map accompanying the 
petition for annexation, a copy of the transcript of proceedings of the Board of 
County Commissioners relating thereto, and a certificate as to the correctness 
thereof. The Clerk shall then forthwith deliver one copy to the Secretary of State, 
and shall file notice of annexation with the Board of Elections, the County Auditor, 
the County Recorder, and the County Engineer within thirty days after it becomes 
effective, and the Clerk shall do all other things required by law. 

 
SECTION 3.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 

this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the law 
including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 

 
 

 
PASSED: _________________________, 2020 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



 

 

 
MEMORANDUM 

TO: Mayor and Members of City Council 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
VIA: Alycia Ballone, Budget and Management Analyst 
DATE:  January 23, 2020 
RE: Ordinance No 19-63 - Evans Farm Annexation Update 

Background Summary: 
The main issue requiring resolution is that of the inclusion of the proposed annexation into 
the Delaware South New Community Authority.  Evans Farm currently is included within 
its own NCA at a rate of 10 mills.  The land proposed to be annexed was identified by the 
City to be included in the South NCA, which has a rate of 7.5 mills.  Rather than pass the full 
17.5 mills burden onto the future homeowner, the City and the Applicant are working to 
find a solution beneficial to all parties and equitable to those already in the South NCA. 

Update: 
In late December 2019, the Applicant shared a proposed payment (attached) based on their 
projections of the South NCA revenues.  The proposal assumed a 2 percent inflation rate, a 
home market value of $400,000, and a rate of completion of 10 homes in 2021 and 25 
homes annually in 2022 through 2024. The revenues were calculated at 7 mills and 
resulted in a total proposed payment of $194,360. 

Staff reviewed this projection in early January and countered the Applicant’s proposal with 
an alternate version (attached) making the following modifications: updating the millage to 
the current South NCA rate of 7.5 mills, revising the first year of collection to be 2022 which 
is more consistent with the construction realities likely for this site, and extending the length 
of the NCA to 2027 consistent with City projections.  Using the Applicant’s rate of 
construction, a market value of $400,000 and inflation rate of 2 percent, Staff’s projected 
NCA revenues were $403,389.   

Staff further broke the calculation down into a per house rate based on the year built to allow 
the developer to better align the payment required with when a building permit might be 
issued: $6,624 for a 2021 build, $5,574 for a 2022 build, $4,503 for a 2023 build, $3,410 for 
a 2024 build, $2,296 for a 2025 build and $1,159 for a 2026 build.  Each payment would be 
made on a per house basis and collected with the building permit.  At the rate of construction 
the Applicant provided, the per house rates sum to the $403,389 in projected South NCA 



 
 

 

revenues.  Increasing the rate of construction or building the remaining 24 lots would 
increase the overall sum. 

Staff’s proposal was given to the Applicant.  The Applicant has since countered the proposal 
with a one-time payment of $250,000 to be made in 2023.  While Staff has not had the 
opportunity to review this one-time payment in detail, a one-time guaranteed payment could 
potentially be beneficial while giving more certainty to receiving funds in the event that 
construction slows or stops for some unforeseen reason. 

Mr. Eyerman will be attending Monday night’s meeting and will be available to answer any 
questions. 

The included attachments show both the Applicant’s projections and City Staff’s projections. 



$400,000 24
2%

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026
10 25 25 25 0 0

MV of 2021 Lots
MV of 2022 

Lots
MV of 2023 

Lots
MV of 2024 

Lots
MV of 2025 

Lots
MV of 2026 

Lots Total MV
NCA Revenues @ 7.5 

mills 
2022 4,000,000$       -$    -$  -$  -$  -$  4,000,000$    10,500$   
2023 4,080,000$       10,200,000$  -$    -$  -$  -$  14,280,000$  37,485$   
2024 4,161,600$       10,404,000$  10,404,000$  -$    -$  -$  24,969,600$  65,545$   
2025 4,244,832$       10,612,080$  10,612,080$  10,612,080$  -$    -$  36,081,072$  94,713$   
2026 4,329,729$       10,824,322$  10,824,322$  10,824,322$  -$    -$  36,802,693$  96,607$   
2027 4,416,323$       11,040,808$  11,040,808$  11,040,808$  -$    -$  37,538,747$  98,539$   

Total 403,389$    

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 Total Paid
per Lot Rate 6,624$       5,574$       4,503$       3,410$       2,296$       1,159$     
Total 66,235$     139,338$        112,563$        85,253$     -$    -$  403,389$        

Number of Lots Built by Year

Market Value:
Inflation:

Remaining Lots:

Projected Rate per Lot by Year Built

City of Delaware Staff Projections 



Evans Farm Project (Peachblow Site) DRAFT

Projected NCA Revenues

Projected Taxable Market Values (1)
NCA Total

Revenue 10 Lots - Built 2021 25 Lots - Built 2022 25 Lots - Built 2023 25 Lots - Built 2024 Total NCA Revenues
Received Market Value (2) Market Value (2) Market Value (2) Market Value (2) Market Value (7 Mills)

2023 4,000,000 0 0 0 4,000,000 9,800
2024 4,080,000 10,200,000 0 0 14,280,000 34,986
2025 4,161,600 10,404,000 10,404,000 0 24,969,600 61,176
2026 4,244,832 10,612,080 10,612,080 10,612,080 36,081,072 88,399

Total $194,360

(1) Assumes 2% inflation during build out (2021 - 2024) and 1% thereafter.
(2) Assumes Single Family market value of $400,000 with 10 lots completed in 2021 and 25 completed annually from 2022 to 2024.

Long Economic Development Advisors, LLC 12/12/19

Applicant Projections

































  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO: 11    DATE: 01/27/2020 
 
ORDINANCE NO:     RESOLUTION NO: 20-13 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  Darren Shulman, City Attorney 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING NEGOTIATED CHANGES TO THE OHIO 
COUNCIL #8 AMERICAN FEDERATION OF STATE, COUNTY AND MUNICIPAL 
EMPLOYEES, AND LOCAL 3934 (AFSCME-CLERICAL) EMPLOYEES 
AGREEMENT WITH THE CITY OF DELAWARE. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
This contract includes a wage package of 3%, 2.25%, and 2% for 2020-2022.    
The parties are executing a companion MOU indicating the second two years 
will increase to 3% if the Union agrees to shift to the new insurance options 
adopted in 2021. 
   
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
The current contract expires December 31, 2019. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
N/A 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
3% wage increase in 2020. Impacts in future years will depend on whether the 
group decides to switch insurance. 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
None. Wage package is consistent with other contracts. 



 
PRESENTER(S): 
Darren Shulman, City Attorney 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
In the past, we have approved multiple labor contracts with one piece of 
legislation.  This isn’t an option this year, as negotiations on the three 
remaining contracts have not been completed.  Staff recommends action on 
this contract now to avoid further delay in implementing the contract changes. 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
Draft contract changes 



 RESOLUTION NO. 20-13 
 

A RESOLUTION ACCEPTING NEGOTIATED CHANGES 
TO THE OHIO COUNCIL #8 AMERICAN FEDERATION 
OF STATE, COUNTY AND MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES, 
AND LOCAL 3934 (AFSCME-CLERICAL) EMPLOYEES 
AGREEMENT WITH THE CITY OF DELAWARE. 

 
WHEREAS, the existing contract with the AFSCME Clerical employees 

expired on December 31, 2019; and 
 

WHEREAS, adoption of the new negotiated contract with the AFSCME 
Clerical employees, effective January 1, 2020, requires approval of a majority of 
City Council members and a majority of the members of the AFSCME Clerical 
employees. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 

SECTION 1.  That the negotiated changes to the contract between the 
City of Delaware and the Ohio Council #8 American Federation of State, 
County and Municipal Employees, and Local 3934 (AFSCME-Clerical) 
employees is hereby accepted. 
 

SECTION 2.  That this resolution shall take effect and be in force 
immediately after its passage, retroactive to January 1, 2020. 
 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2020 YEAS ____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 
    CITY CLERK  MAYOR 
 



 Agreement Between the 
 
 CITY OF DELAWARE 
 
 

 
 
 
 And 
 
 OHIO COUNCIL #8 
 
 AMERICAN FEDERATION OF STATE, COUNTY 
  AND MUNICIPAL EMPLOYEES, 
 
 AND LOCAL 3934 
 
 Effective Dates 
  
             January 1, 2020 2017 – December 31, 2022 2019 
 
 
 



 2

ARTICLE 1 

 
 AGREEMENT AND DURATION 
 
Section 1.   

This Agreement is made and entered into by and between the City of Delaware, (hereinafter 
referred to as the City) and the Ohio Council 8, American Federation Of State, County and 
Municipal Employees, AFL-CIO And Local 3934, 6800 North High Street, Worthington, 
Ohio 43085 (hereinafter referred to as the Union). 

 
Section 2.   

This Agreement is made for the purpose of promoting cooperation, and orderly, 
constructive and harmonious relations between the City, its employees, and the Union.  
This Agreement is intended to formalize the issues approved by the negotiating committees 
of the City and the Employees Union. 

 
Section 3.   

The provisions of this Agreement establish certain rights and benefits for the Union and 
the employees which shall only be coextensive with the terms of this Agreement, and these 
rights and benefits shall cease and terminate upon the termination date of this Agreement, 
or any extensions thereto. 

 
Section 4.   

This Agreement shall become effective January 1, 2017 2020, upon ratification by the 
Union and approval by the City Council and shall remain in full force and effect until 
December 31, 2019 2022.  Unless otherwise indicated, the terms used in this Agreement 
shall be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 4117 of the Revised Code.  
Where this Agreement makes no specification about a matter, the City and its employees 
are subject to all applicable State laws or local ordinances pertaining to the wages, hours, 
and terms and conditions of employment for public employees. 

 
Section 5.   

If either party wishes to terminate, modify, or negotiate a successor agreement, it must 
serve written or electronic notice of that intention upon the other party not less than sixty 
(60) days prior to the expiration of this Agreement.  Upon timely service of such notice, 
the parties shall collectively bargain in good faith in an effort to reach a successor 
Agreement.  If no such written notice is given, this Agreement will be renewed 
automatically for one year. 

  



 3

ARTICLE 2 
 
 RECOGNITION 
 
Section 1.   

The City recognizes the Union as the sole and exclusive representative for all Bargaining 
Unit employees described in Section 2 of this Article.  The Union is recognized by the City 
as the sole and exclusive representative in any and all matters relating to wages, hours and 
terms and conditions of employment, and the continuation, modification, or deletion of any 
existing provisions of past Agreements between the parties, and the resolution of questions 
arising under this Agreement. 

 
Section 2.   

The bargaining unit shall consist of all clerical positions of the City of Delaware including 
Clerical Specialist, Accounting Specialist I, and II and III, Administrative Assistant I, II 
and III, and Office Supervisor.  Excluded from the bargaining unit are all management-
level employees and supervisors as defined in the act, and any SERB amendments thereto. 
  



 4

  
 ARTICLE 3 
 
 DEFINITIONS 
 
For purposes of this bargaining Agreement the following terms shall be defined as follows: 
 
Department Head(s):  Employees designated as Department Heads in the City’s annual budget or 
organizational chart. 
 
Department(s):  Includes the departments of Public Works, Finance, Legal Department, Planning 
and Community Development, Engineering, Public Utility, Grounds and Facilities, and Police and 
Fire. 
 
Periods of Employment/Years of Total Service/Years of Service shall always be based upon 
permanent Full-Time Employment. 
 
SEPARATION: LAST DAY WORKED BY EMPLOYEE.  USE OF LEAVE OR A DAY 

FALLING ON A HOLIDAY ARE NOT CONSIDERED A DAY WORKED. 



 5

  
 ARTICLE 8 
 
 WAGES AND PAY PLAN 
 
Section 1.   

Salary step advancements prescribed in the Pay Plan shall become effective the first full 
payroll period after their anniversary date.  For the dates specified below, the new pay rates 
are effective for the pay period beginning on the date noted.  The following pay rates reflect 
a 2% 3% INCREASE FOR 2017 2020, A 2.25% INCREASE FOR 2018 2021, AND A 
2% INCREASE FOR 2019 2022.   

  

Pay plan for the period including January 1, 2020 

PAY 
GRADE 
HOURLY  STEP 1  STEP 2  STEP 3  STEP 4  STEP 5 

1  16.74  17.26  18.31  19.48  20.61 

2  19.67  20.52  21.35  22.16  22.92 

3  20.64  21.56  22.40  23.44  24.39 

4  21.87  22.74  23.60  24.59  25.60 

5  22.65  23.69  24.77  25.66  26.81 

 

Pay plan for the period including January 1, 2021 

PAY 
GRADE 
HOURLY  STEP 1  STEP 2  STEP 3  STEP 4  STEP 5 

1  17.11  17.65  18.73  19.92  21.07 

2  20.12  20.98  21.83  22.65  23.43 

3  21.11  22.04  22.91  23.97  24.94 

4  22.36  23.25  24.13  25.14  26.17 

5  23.16  24.22  25.33  26.23  27.41 

 

Pay plan for the period including January 1, 2022 

PAY 
GRADE 
HOURLY  STEP 1  STEP 2  STEP 3  STEP 4  STEP 5 

1  17.46  18.00  19.10  20.31  21.50 

2  20.52  21.40  22.27  23.11  23.90 

3  21.53  22.48  23.36  24.45  25.44 

4  22.81  23.72  24.61  25.64  26.69 

5  23.62  24.71  25.84  26.76  27.96 



 6

 
 
 
 

PAY GRADE     POSITION 
1       Clerical Specialist 
2  Accounting Specialist I, 

Administrative Assistant I   
3 No Current Position 

ACCOUNTING SPECIALIST II, 
ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT 
II 

4 Accounting Specialist III, 
ADMINISTRATIVE ASSISTANT 
III       

5       Office Supervisor 
 
 

 
 
 

 
 
 
 



 7

  
 ARTICLE 13 
 
 SICK LEAVE 
 
Section 1.   

Each City employee shall be entitled to sick leave with pay of four and six-tenths (4.6) 
hours for each completed eighty (80) hours of service.  An employee may use sick leave, 
upon approval of the Department Head, for absence due to personal illness, pregnancy, 
injury, exposure to contagious disease which could be communicated to other employees, 
and for illness or injury of the employee's PARENTS, spouse, children or step-children.  
Each employee will be required to sign the City "Request For Leave Form" that her absence 
was the result of one of the causes specified above.  For any sick leave absence of three (3) 
or more consecutive days due to an employee’s illness, an employee will be required to 
provide a physician's certificate stating the nature of the illness and stating that the 
employee is physically able to return to work.  The City retains the right to insist that an 
employee, before returning to work from a sickness leave, be examined by a physician 
designated by the City at the City's expense, to verify that the employee can safely return 
to work. 

 
Falsification of a physician's certificate shall be grounds for disciplinary action including 
discharge. 

 
Section 2.   

Sick leave may be taken in one - half (½) hour increments. 
 
Section 3.   

If an employee used 0 hours of sick leave in any one calendar year, that employee shall 
receive pay equal to twenty-four (24) hours the following year.  If a member uses between 
one (l) and eight (8) hours of sick leave in any one calendar year that member shall receive 
pay equal to sixteen (16) hours the following year.  If a member uses between nine (9) and 
sixteen (16) hours of sick leave in any one calendar year that member shall receive pay 
equal to eight (8) hours the following year.  To be eligible for the sick leave incentive 
program said member must be a permanent full-time employee of the City of Delaware for 
the entire preceding year and have met the conditions above.  At the member's option, any 
additional vacation days earned can be taken in the form of vacation leave or compensation 
in cash. 

 
Section 4.   

Any City employee who has accumulated at least 800 hours of sick leave credit may, during 
any calendar year, convert any excess thereof up to 120 hours of sick leave to vacation 
leave on the basis of sixteen (16) sick leave hours for eight (8) hours vacation leave.  Such 
conversion can only occur the first pay period of December. 
 

Section 5.   
Any member separated from City service for any reason other than termination with just 



 8

cause shall be paid for all accrued sick leave on the basis of one (l) hour of pay for every 
three (3) hours of unused sick leave up to 650 hours.  A member separated from City service 
for other than just cause shall be paid for any accumulated and unused sick leave for those 
hours which exceed 650 on the basis of one (l) hour of pay for every two (2) hours of 
unused sick leave.  Total sick leave payout cannot exceed sixteen (16) weeks pay. 

 
Upon separation, for any reason other than termination with just cause, of any employee 
who has completed a minimum of fifteen (15) years of service with the City, all unused 
sick leave credit will be converted to terminal leave pay on the basis of one (l) days pay for 
every two (2) unused sick leave days, to a maximum of sixteen (16) weeks pay. 

 
Section 6.    

An employee hired prior to January 1, 2013 may not transfer or “carry over” accrued or 
unused sick leave to the City from another employer.  Employees hired after that date 
may transfer accrued sick leave hours from previous employment with any public 
agency, but such sick leave hours will not be eligible for conversion or payment upon 
separation pursuant to Section 5.  In addition, sick leave usage by members who transfer 
in sick leave, as per this Section 6, will first be charged to sick leave hours accumulated 
while employed by the City of Delaware.  Members will only be eligible to utilize hours 
transferred in from prior public employment when they have no balance of sick leave 
available from sick leave accrued while employed by the City of Delaware.  

  



 9

  
 ARTICLE 20 
 

 DUES 
Section 1.  Dues.   
The City agrees to deduct from the wages of any employee who is a member of the AFSCME 
Bargaining Unit all dues uniformly required for the term of this agreement in accordance with the 
authorization/check off card.  The Union will notify the City by January 1 of each year of the dues 
it charges and its current membership.  All dues collected shall be paid over by the employer once 
each month to the AFSCME Ohio Council #8, Local 3934, 6800 North High Street, Worthington, 
Ohio 43085. SUCH PAYMENT SHALL BE ACCOMPANIED BY A LIST INCLUDING 
THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION: 1) THE NAMES, ADDRESSES, AND LAST FOUR 
DIGITS OF THE SOCIAL SECURITY NUMBER FOR ALL BARGAINING UNIT 
MEMBERS AND WHETHER OR NOT THEY HAD DUES DEDUCTED FOR THE 
GIVEN MONTH.  

 
SECTION 2. UNION MEMBERSHIP.  EMPLOYEES WHO ARE MEMBERS OF THE 
UNION MAY REVOKE THEIR UNION MEMBERSHIP AT ANY TIME BY SENDING 
WRITTEN NOTICE TO THE UNION OF THEIR DESIRE TO DROP THEIR UNION 
MEMBERSHIP. REVOCATION OF UNION MEMBERSHIP DOES NOT REVOKE 
UNION DUES AUTHORIZATION, WHICH MAY ONLY BE REVOKED AS SET FORTH 
BELOW.  
 
SECTION 3.  DUES DEDUCTION.  ANY VOLUNTARY DUES CHECKOFF 
AUTHORIZATION SHALL BE IRREVOCABLE, REGARDLESS OF WHETHER AN 
EMPLOYEE HAS REVOKED UNION MEMBERSHIP, FOR A PERIOD OF ONE YEAR 
FROM THE DATE OF THE EXECUTION OF THE DUES CHECKOFF 
AUTHORIZATION AND FOR YEAR TO YEAR THEREAFTER, UNLESS THE 
EMPLOYEE GIVES THE EMPLOYER AND THE UNION WRITTEN NOTICE OF 
REVOCATION NOT LESS THAN TEN (10) DAYS AND NOT MORE THAN TWENTY 
FIVE (25) DAYS BEFORE THE END OF ANY YEARLY PERIOD. COPIES OF 
EMPLOYEES’ DUES CHECKOFF AUTHORIZATION CARDS ARE AVAILABLE 
FROM THE UNION UPON REQUEST. 
 
 
Section 2.  Fair Share Fee. 
A. Payroll Deduction of Fair Share Fee - The City shall deduct from   the pay of members of 
the bargaining unit who elect not to become or remain members of the Union, a fair share fee for 
the Union's representation of such non-members during the term of this contract.  No non-member 
filing a timely demand shall be required to subsidize partisan political or ideological causes, or 
any other endeavors not germane to the Union's work in the realm of collective bargaining and 
contract administration. 
          
B. Notification of the Amount of Fair Share Fee - Notice of the amount of the annual fair 
share fee, which shall not exceed 100% of the Union dues for members, shall be transmitted by 
the Union to the City Finance Director prior to February 15 of each year during the term of this 



 10

contract for the purpose of determining the amount to be payroll deducted.  The City agrees to 
transmit all amounts deducted to the Union once each month, at the same time and to the same 
place as regular membership dues.   
 
C. Procedure for Rebate - The Union represents to the City that an internal rebate procedure 
has been established in accordance with Section No. 4117.09(C) of the Revised Code, and that a 
procedure for challenging the amount of the representation fee has been established and will be 
given to each member of the bargaining unit who does not join the Union, and that such procedures 
and notice shall be in compliance with all applicable state and federal laws and the Constitutions 
of the United States and the State of Ohio.                      
 

D.   Entitlement to Rebate - Upon timely demand, non-members may apply to the Union for 
rebate of the fair share fee pursuant to the internal procedures adopted by the Union.   
                 

E. Indemnification of Employer - The Union shall defend, indemnify and hold harmless the 
City, the City Council members, the Finance Director, and any and all other officers and employees 
of the City against any and all claims and/or costs arising from or in any way related to the 
implementation and enforcement of this Article, specifically including, but not limited to, any costs 
arising from an action in any court or administrative agency alleging that the Union's internal 
rebate procedure is legally defective.                                     
 

  



 11

 
 ARTICLE 29 
 
 FILLING JOBS - WITHIN SAME CLASSIFICATIONS 
 
For filling jobs from within the same classification, said job opening will be offered to employees 
active at work in the same classification before it is offered outside the classification based upon 
seniority, efficiency and other relevant factors.  The applicable department head and human 
resources department retains the sole discretion in approving the filling of such job openings. 
 
 



 12

  
 ARTICLE 37 
 
 SIGNATORY AGREEMENT 
 
Section 1.   

By affixing appropriate signatures below, the representatives of the AFSCME Employees 
Union and the City agree to the terms and conditions of this employment Agreement.  The 
language of said foregoing terms and conditions of employment is hereby deemed to be 
acceptable to both parties and recommended to be forwarded to the Delaware City Council 
for the necessary legislative approval, ratification and adoption. 

 
Section 2.   

Signed and dated at Delaware, Ohio, on this        day of January 2016 2020. 
 
 
For the City:      For the Union: 
 
 
             
R. Thomas Homan        Tina Johns 
City Manager   Bargaining Committee Member 
 
 
 
Approved as to Form :    ______________________________ 
       William DeVore  
       AFSCME Representative 
_      
Darren M. Shulman      
City Attorney       

 
 



  

 

 
Memorandum of Understanding between the City of Delaware and the AFSCME Local 3934 

 
When the city introduces its new insurance plan design options in 2021, the Union may elect to 
drop  the  current  plan  from  the  contract  and  move  to  the  options  available  under  the 
management pay plan.  If the Union elects to do so, the wages in 2021 and 2022 will change to 
3% each. 
 
 
For the City    For the Association  
 
 
 

   

 
 
 
 

   

 
 
 
 

   

 
 
 
 

   

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

   
 

Approved as to form     
   



FACT SHEET 

DATE: 01/27/2020 

RESOLUTION NO:  

AGENDA ITEM NO:  12  

ORDINANCE NO: 20-01  

READING: FIRST  PUBLIC HEARING: YES 
February 10, 2020 @ 6:30 p.m. 

TO: Mayor and Members of City Council 

FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 

VIA: --- 

TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE LEVYING A $5.00 MOTOR VEHICLE LICENSE CHARGE AS 
AUTHORIZED BY SECTION 4504.173 OF THE OHIO REVISED CODE.  

BACKGROUND: 
In 2019 the Ohio General Assembly approved legislation allowing for local 
jurisdictions to increase the amount of vehicle license fees collected in their 
respective districts.  Revenue generated from the increase can be used for the 
maintenance and repair to the local street network.  The City of Delaware’s road 
maintenance program remains underfunded by an estimated $1.6 million 
annually.  The provision of adequate maintenance of all transportation elements 
included in street and traffic operations and roadway paving is not sustainable 
under existing funding limitations.  Additional funds could help reduce the 
inventory of over one-hundred local residential streets in need of immediate 
resurfacing.  Additional funds could also help improve the level of service in 
maintaining public bikeways, parking lots and alleys.  It has been identified as 
a city priority to identify and establish additional funding resources that can be 
directed toward the maintenance and repair of the existing roadway 
infrastructure within the city.        

REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED:   
Local jurisdictions must enact legislation updating the required license fee 
amounts before additional fees can be collected. 



COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
 N/A 

FISCAL IMPACT(S):   
Increases annual revenues available for road maintenance by an estimated 
$180,000.00 

POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 

PRESENTER(S):   
R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 

RECOMMENDATION:   
Approval following public hearing 

ATTACHMENT(S) 
* 2020 Roadway Maintenance Program (Draft) 
* Roadway Maintenance Fact Sheet (Draft) 
* Inventory of Poor & Very Poor Residential Streets in need of resurfacing * 
*Testimony of City Manager Tom Homan from 2011 and 2017   
regarding Permissive License Fees. 



ORDINANCE 20-01 
 

AN ORDINANCE LEVYING A $5.00 MOTOR 
VEHICLE LICENSE CHARGE AS AUTHORIZED 
BY SECTION 4504.173 OF THE OHIO REVISED 
CODE.  

 
 WHEREAS the City is responsible for the maintenance and repair of 171 
miles of local, collector and arterial streets throughout the community; and 
 
WHEREAS the City’s Roadway Maintenance Program includes the maintenance 
of traffic signals, streetlights, guardrail, road signs, pavement markings, winter 
snow and ice removal, bikeways, public parking lots, sidewalks, curb ramps, 
street repairs and paving; and   
 

WHEREAS there are over 100 public streets in Delaware in need of 
immediate maintenance and repair at an estimated cost exceeding $8 million; 
and 

 
WHEREAS the available revenues for roadway maintenance and repair has 

not kept up with the cost of providing adequate maintenance to the existing 
street network within the city; and  
 

WHEREAS in order to establish a sustainable roadway maintenance 
program, an estimated $1.6 million in additional annual revenue is necessary; 
and  

 
WHEREAS an increase in the allowable license plate tax collections will 

provide an estimated $180,000 in annual revenue for use on street maintenance. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 

SECTION 1: There is hereby levied an annual license tax upon the 
operation of motor vehicles on the public roads or highways of the City of 
Delaware, Ohio, pursuant to §4504.173 of the Ohio Revised Code for the 
purposes of planning, constructing, improving, maintaining, and repairing 
public roads, highways, and streets, and to provide additional revenue for the 
purposes authorized by Section 4504.173(A)(2) of the Ohio Revised Code; and 
to supplement revenue already available for such purposes. 

 
SECTION 3. Such tax shall be at the rate of $5.00 per motor vehicle per 

year, on each and every motor vehicle the district of registration of which, as 
defined in §4503.10 of the Ohio Revised Code, is in the City of Delaware, Ohio. 

 



SECTION 4. As used in this Ordinance, the term "motor vehicle" shall 
include all vehicles within the definition of motor vehicle in the Ohio Revised 
Code. 

 
SECTION 5. The annual tax imposed by this ordinance shall apply to 

and be in effect for registrations beginning January 1, 2021, or at the earliest 
time legally authorized, and shall continue in effect and apply during each 
registration thereafter. 

 
SECTION 6. The annual tax imposed by this ordinance shall be paid to 

the Registrar of Motor Vehicles of the State of Ohio, or to a Deputy Registrar, at 
the time of application for registration of a motor vehicle is made pursuant to the 
Ohio Revised Code. 

 
SECTION 7 . All revenues derived from the annual tax herein levied 

shall be used by the City of Delaware, Ohio for the purposes specified in this 
ordinance, or any other purpose authorized by state law. 

 
SECTION 8. The Clerk of Council is directed to mail a certified copy of 

this Ordinance to the Bureau of Motor Vehicles, Tax Distribution Section in 
Columbus, Ohio upon passage. 

 
SECTION 9.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 

this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the 
law including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 

 
 
 
VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:  YEAS____NAYS____  
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2020  YEAS____ NAYS____ 
       ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK     MAYOR 
 



 
 

1 | P a g e  
 

Submitted by William L. Ferrigno, P.E., Public Works Director/City Engineer  
Revised January 21, 2020 

This update summarizes the funding resources and corresponding expenditures for the 2020 
Roadway Maintenance Program, with recommendations for additional funding required to support a 
sustainable street, traffic and pavement maintenance operation.  As growth continues across the City, 
the need to dedicate additional resources toward the maintenance and repair of existing highway 
pavement and traffic management infrastructure becomes more pressing.   At existing funding levels, 
the Roadway Maintenance Program is not sustainable.  An additional $1.6 million in annual funding is 
recommended to fully support a sustainable roadway maintenance program. 

*$645,000 of the funding is available through a competative grant application process and is not a 
guaranteed annual revenue source. 

 

Public Works Department 
2020 Roadway Maintenance Program  

 

2020 Roadway Maintenance Program – Funding   
Ohio Gas Tax      $2,045,000 

License Fees         $698,000 

Ohio Public Works Commission Grant (OPWC)*     $495,000 

Delaware County OPWC Grant Match*      $150,000 

General Fund Revenue (Income Tax)   $1,266,572 

Total Revenues                 $4,654,572 

2020 Roadway Maintenance Program – Expenses 
 

Street Maintenance:  $1,838,025 allocated for staffing and the maintenance and 
repairs to public streets including potholes, patching, crack sealing, parking lots, 
bikepaths, sidewalk, curbs,  bridge maintenance, and snow and ice removal.    

 
Traffic Maintenance:  $966,547 for staffing and the maintenenace and repairs to 
traffic signals, street lights, pavement markings, roadway signage and guardrails.     

 
Street Resurfacing:  $1,850,000 for paving residential and arterial streets.   

 



 
 

2 | P a g e  
 

 

       Roadway Maintenance Program – Annual Funding Levels 

Street Paving  Current Recommended 

Pavement Resurfacing & Preservation $1,850,000 $3,050,000 
Alley Resurfacing $0 $50,000 

 $1,850,000 $3,100,000 

   
Street Maintenance Current Recommended 

Pavement Repairs  $310,000 $400,000 

Pedestrian Paths & Bikeways $35,000 $100,000 

Public Parking Lots  $60,000 $130,000 

Bridge Maintenance $50,000 $50,000 

Sidewalk & ADA Ramp Repairs $200,000 $200,000 

Curb Repairs $0 $150,000 

Snow & Ice Removal $200,000 $200,000 

 $855,000 $1,230,000 

   
Traffic Maintenance Current Recommended 

Streetlights  $55,000 $55,000 

Street Signage  $40,000 $40,000 

Pavement Markings  $105,000 $105,000 

Traffic Signal System  $185,000 $200,000 

Guardrail Maintenance $45,000 $75,000 
 $430,000 $475,000 

Totals $3,135,000 $4,805,000 
The difference between the current available and proposed funding is $1.67 million 

 



 
 

3 | P a g e  
 

Roadway Maintenance Program Activities 
 

Street Resurfacing & Pavement Preservation – The street 
network in Delaware is made up of 171 miles of Arterial, 
Collector and Local roadway.   Based on the age and condition of 
Delaware’s overall street network, a sustainable pavement 
maintenance program requires an estimated $3.1 million in 
annual funding.   Each new mile of roadway constructed in 
Delaware increases the overall annual street resurfacing 
program cost by an estimated $20,000 per year for local streets 
and $28,000 for collector streets.  The anticipated useful life of an asphalt pavement surface of any 
given street varies depending on pavement age, traffic volumes, and how well it has been preserved, 
and can generally be expressed in ranges from 10-15 years for arterials, 15–25 years for collectors, 
and 20–30 years for local residential streets.  Delaying pavement maintenance work including 
preservation treatments and surface course replacement, ultimately results in shorter pavement life 
cycles, higher repair costs, and an overall increase in the cost of establishing a sustainable pavement 
maintenance program.  Based on the current condition of Delaware’s local streets, additional funding 
is required to address all streets throughout the community. 

  

 
Alley Maintenance – The city has 78 public alleys with a combined length of 9.1 miles, many of 
which are in serious disrepair.  Alleys provide primary, and in some cases, the only access for many 
resident’s properties, and as such, greater consideration to alley maintenance should be included as 
part of a sustainable pavement maintenance program.  The last comprehensive alley improvements 
by the City were completed in the 1990’s.  Alley maintenance by the City is currently limited to 
pothole repair and patching.   Public alleys require resurfacing the same as the local residential 
streets, and as such should be repaved every 20-25 years.   
 
 

The City road network 
has increased by 67% 
(68.6 miles) in the past 
25 years while the cost 
of asphalt has more 
than doubled. 

Pavement Network
% City Responsibility CL Miles Area (SF) AVG YRS Area/Year $/SF Annual Cost

Local Streets 100 94.31 12,890,946 25 515,638 2.93 1,510,819

Collector Streets 100 43.07 6,614,175 20 330,709 2.93 968,977

Arterials 100 10.13 2,218,158 15 147,877 3.25 480,601

SR/US Arterials 20 13.96 3,115,859 10 311,586 1.50 93,476

US23 0 9.77 3,489,002 10 N/A N/A 0

Alleys 100 9.1 509,789 20 25,489 1.50 38,234

Totals 171.24 28,328,140 1,331,299 3,092,106

Annual Pavement Maintenance Costs (2020)
Life Cycle Costs 



 
 

4 | P a g e  
 

Pavement Maintenance & Repairs – Annual pavement maintenance work performed by the Public 
Works Street crew includes pothole repairs, pavement patching, berm and edge repairs, crack filling 
and sealing, and pavement base repairs.  Much of this work is completed by the Public Works Street 
crew, though contractors are used for some activities such as crack sealing and concrete repairs.  
Though the local and collector street network has expanded by over 70% in the last 25 years, the 
staffing level dedicated to the maintenance and repair of our public streets has remained stagnant.  As 
such it becomes increasingly difficult to maintain the same level of service regarding street 
maintenance and repair efforts through the Street Division.   
 
Pedestrian & Bike Paths - The City’s inventory of pedestrian and bikeway trails continues to 
increase as new development and capital initiatives expand the public system.  The current network 
totals just over 24 miles of pathway requiring ongoing maintenance, and ultimately pavement 
replacement.  Like asphalt streets, paved paths require routine maintenance and eventually 
resurfacing.  The majority of maintenance work over the past several years has been limited to 
surface sealing, crack sealing and edge repairs.  Each additional mile of new bikeway constructed 
adds an estimated $4,500 per year to the overall cost of network maintenance.  Applying conservative 
estimates for the longevity of a properly maintained bikeway and assuming a pavement life cycle of 
25 years, an annualized program cost of $100,000 is estimated for the existing public pathway 
network.   
 
Public Parking Lots – The City maintains 28 public parking lots 
including the downtown lots, public buildings, and park 
properties.  The pavement requires both routine asphalt 
maintenance and eventual replacement as surfaces deteriorate.  
Parking areas are sealed and restriped every five years.  
Pavement replacement is anticipated every 20-30 years.  Based 
on the current inventory of parking lots, the annualized 
maintenance cost is estimated at $130,000.   
 
Bridge Maintenance – The City is responsible for the full maintenance and replacement 
responsibility of sixteen vehicular, and six multi-use path bridges.   An additional eighteen State 
bridges within Delaware require minor maintenance by the City for items including pothole repair, 
crack sealing, crash barrier, striping, and signage.  The City allocates $50,000 per year to address 
minor bridge maintenance needs as identified through annual bridge inspections.  Separate large 
bridge projects are identified through the 5-Year Capital Improvement Plan and include initiatives 
such as the Springfield Branch Trail Bridge over US23, the old clay mine rail tunnel under North 
Street, and the Delaware Run Bridge on Houk Road. 
  
Sidewalks & ADA Ramps – The City completed the successful Safe Walks Program in 2017 capping a 
10-year initiative to address residential sidewalk safety community wide.  Nevertheless, sidewalks 
continue to deteriorate requiring ongoing maintenance.   The City responds to customer driven 
complaint as a means to address sidewalk deficiencies throughout the community.  In some cases, the 
repairs become the responsibility of the abutting property owner; However, the majority of 

The City maintains 24 
miles of public 
pedestrian paths and 
bikeway, 28 public 
parking lots and 22 
bridge structures 



 
 

5 | P a g e  
 

deficiencies are city responsibility and are associated with sidewalk sections heaving from the tree 
roots.  $150,000 has been allocated to address sidewalk repairs with an additional $50,000 for ADA 
ramp repairs by the Public Works crew.  An estimated 3,775 feet missing sidewalk has been identified 
through the last inventory with a construction cost estimated at $280,000, though no funding is 
currently available to address this work.  
 
Curb Repairs – Many of the City’s 174 miles of local, collector and arterials streets include both 
concrete and sandstone curb in various states of disrepair.  The appropriate time to address curb 
repairs is when a street is being resurfaced, though limited funding prevents implementation of such 
an approach.  As a result, the need to address deteriorating curb conditions continues to grow.  Some 
communities include curb repair as part of their resurfacing program while others assess the cost of 
repairs to abutting property owners.  Additional funding is required to include spot curb repair as 
part of the annual resurfacing efforts by the city. 

Snow & Ice Removal – The Street Division is responsible for snow plowing operations throughout 
the winter season.   This work requires on average, the application of 2,500 to 3,000 tons of road salt 
and 110,000 gallons of pretreatment brine solution during the winter season.  Participation in the 
annual ODOT Road Salt Fill Program provides cost control and reliable material availability for the 
season.  The use of salt brine allows for the more efficient, effective and reduced waste of road salt, 
maximizing level of service to the community while lowering environmental impacts.  Because winter 
temperatures and precipitation vary widely in Ohio, the total materials and labor dedicated toward 
snow and ice management vary by year making it difficult to determine consistent budgetary needs. 

Streetlights - The City currently maintains 2,312 streetlights, a 
number continually increasing with each new residential 
development.  In addition to the cost of routine lamp, photo-eye, and 
ballast replacements, future cost increases are anticipated to address 
conduit and wiring repairs, and the re-painting of streetlight poles as 
the equipment ages.   In 2018, the City implemented new streetlight 
standards requiring more energy efficient LED fixtures to be 
installed, replacing the former High-Pressure Sodium (HPS) lamps.  The City is evaluating the cost to 
replace all remaining HPS lamps with LED fixtures.  Such an initiative would be included as part of a 
future 5-Year Capital Improvement Plan and could cost upward of $875,000.    

Street Signage – The City maintains 8,986 regulatory, warning, directional and informational signs 
throughout the community.  Retro-reflectivity standards apply to all regulatory and warning signage, 
of which we have a total of 3,765 (excluding parking).  The City adopted the “expected sign life” 
methodology in 2014 to abide by the standards and has focused on regulatory and warning sign 
replacements on Expressway and Arterial roadways.   The majority of sign maintenance and repair is 
performed by the Public Works Traffic crew.   

Pavement Markings – Pavement markings on roadways have important functions in providing 
guidance and information to the road user, especially during reduced visibility conditions at night 
and/or rainy and foggy conditions.  To maintain the appropriate level of highway safety, the City must 
maintain pavement markings by restriping arterials every 2-4 years, collectors every 6 years, and 

The City maintains 
62 traffic signals, 
2,312 streetlights 
and 8,986 traffic 

control signs 



 
 

6 | P a g e  
 

local streets every 10 years.    The majority of ‘short line work’ i.e. crosswalks, stop bars and 
pavement symbols is managed by the Traffic crew, while ‘long line work’ is managed through state 
bid contractors who has the equipment to perform the long line striping.   

Traffic Signals & Equipment – The City maintains 62 traffic signals and 24 school zone flasher units, 
with two additional signals anticipated over the next two years.  The total number of traffic signals 
and school zone flashers has doubled since the early 1990’s, not including the more recent 
installation of RRFB’s and speed feedback signs.  The Traffic Division implemented a maintenance 
program in 2015 which includes routine maintenance/replacement of signal components.  This 
program has greatly reduced the number of unexpected call-outs for emergency signal malfunctions; 
however, there is still need for additional funding to replace aged equipment.   

The City maintains seven rectangular rapid flashing beacons (RRFB’s) installations throughout the 
community and has plans to install three in 2020, and an additional three in future years at a cost of 
$15,000 per pair.  Study and local results support that these devices increase motorist awareness of 
the presence of pedestrians in crossings and as a result, a reduction in the number of accidents and 
injuries.  The use of dynamic speed feedback signs (DSFB) offer a means to appease neighborhood 
concerns over speeding through the provision of visual enforcement measures, and for a relatively 
modest cost of $7,000 per installation.  Eligibility criteria was developed which yielded 18 identified 
locations for potential installation with the first permanent installations planned for 2020.        

The Traffic Division is responsible for addressing maintenance of traffic operations for the 40 
planned special events and approximately 10,000 utility locate requests received annually for all 
underground street lighting, traffic signal lines, and fiber cable owned by the City.  City owned 
utilities must be identified and marked within 48-hours of a request being submitted.  In Delaware, 
this activity requires 50% of a traffic technician’s time on an annual basis.   

Guardrail Maintenance – The City currently maintains an inventory of 13.6 miles of roadside barrier 
in various locations throughout the City.  Over 85% of all roadside barrier is located on US23, US42, 
US36, and SR37.  $50,000 is budgeted annually for the maintenance of existing guardrail, excluding 
accident related guardrail repairs, generally covered through insurance claim reimbursements.  The 
City has identified ten locations requiring an estimated 4,200 LF of new guardrail to address highway 
safety.  These installations will protect traffic at locations that include sharp curves, steep 
embankments and bodies of water.  The cost to complete the installations is estimated at $130,000 
and will be included in future 5-Year Capital Improvement Plans.  



 

Your Tax Dollars 

Don’t Go as Far  

In 1995 the cost of 
asphalt paving was 

just under $30.00 per 
ton.   Today that figure 

has increased over 
300% to $90 per ton 

for street paving; and 
the cost today to pave 

a mile of residential 
street can exceed 

$300,000  

What do we 

Maintain? 

US 23            10 miles 

US & State Routes  14 miles 

Local Arterials         10 miles 

Collector Streets     43 miles 

Local streets            94 miles 

Alleys              9 miles 

 

Is the New Gas Tax Helping?   The State enacted an additional Motor Fuels Sales Tax 

“Gas Tax” in 2019 providing the City with an additional $758,000 per year for our local street 
maintenance program, and helping close a $2.5 million gap in annual roadway maintenance 
funding 

Street Surfaces Wears Out 
Residential streets need to be 
repaved every 20 to 30 years 

depending on its condition and how 
well it’s been maintained. 

Additional Funding Would Help 

The city needs an additional $1.6 million 
in annual funding to fully support a 
sustainable street maintenance program 

We Need to Pave More 
Residential Streets in Delaware 
There are currently over 100 residential 
streets in Delaware in need of paving at 

an estimated cost of $8 million. 

Where Does the 
Money Go? 

Street paving  

Potholes & Patching 

Snow Plowing 

Crack sealing 

Bikeways  

Public Parking Lots 

Traffic Signals  

Street lights 

Pavement Striping 

Guardrail  

Street signs 

The City Road Network has 
Increased by 69% 

In 1995 the City maintained 102 
miles of roadway.  In just 25 years 
the total miles of roadway the City 

maintains has increased to 171 miles 

Visit http://www.delawareohio.net/access-delaware for more information on transportation issues 

http://www.delawareohio.net/access-delaware


Street Length(ft) CL Miles Area SF Cost
ABLEMARLE CIRLE 927 0.18            22,257 $72,334
ASH ST 930 0.18            22,329 $72,571
ASPEN CT 859 0.16            20,621 $67,017
BERNARD AVE 985               0.19            19,223                $62,474
BOULDER DR 1,320 0.25            42,255 $137,329
BOWTOWN RD 2,897 0.55            52,138 $169,448
BRANCH ST 748 0.14            11,963 $38,880
BRIDGEPORT WAY 1,672 0.32            40,123 $130,398
CALM ST 769 0.15            12,311 $40,009
CAPITAL CT 202               0.04            5,241                  $17,035
CARLISLE AVE 294 0.06            4,710 $15,308
CASTLETON WAY 650 0.12            16,239 $52,777
CATHERINE ST 518 0.10            15,529 $50,468
CHAMBERLAIN ST 684 0.13            14,366 $46,689
CHAMBERLAIN ST 592               0.11            9,464                  $30,758
CHANNING ST 1,471 0.28            32,359 $105,166
CHATHAM LN 174               0.03            4,527                  $14,713
CHATHAM LN E 299               0.06            7,769                  $25,251
CHATHAM LN W 326               0.06            8,466                  $27,515
COBBLESTONE DR 1,408 0.27            45,066 $146,465
COLOMET DR 1,622 0.31            40,543 $131,763
COURT ST 509 0.10            9,157 $29,759
DARLINGTON RD 416 0.08            8,311 $27,009
DAVIDSON LN 638 0.12            30,646 $99,601
DOGWOOD DR 930 0.18            22,329 $72,569
EAST BRANCH RD 384 0.07            9,972 $32,409
EAST POINT XING 1,291            0.24            27,112                $88,113
ELIZABETH ST 996 0.19            33,864 $110,058
FAIR AVE 2,218 0.42            46,001 $149,502
FIRESTONE DR 1,617 0.31            42,051 $136,664
FLINTWOOD DR 735 0.14            19,114 $62,122
FOLEY ST 255 0.05            5,103 $16,585
FOREST AVE 1,773 0.34            49,642 $161,335
GIBRALTAR CT 210 0.04            5,462 $17,751
GOLD DUST DR 156 0.03            4,061 $13,197

Local Street Resurfacing Program (DRAFT)                                                                                 

'Poor' & 'Very Poor' Rated Streets                                           
Revised January 22, 2020



GRAND CIRCUIT BLVD 974 0.18            31,161 $101,274
GRANITE CT 345 0.07            8,969 $29,148
GRISWOLD ST 291 0.06            8,733 $28,384
HALSTEAD CT 154 0.03            3,707 $12,048
HAMMOND ST 362 0.07            6,523 $21,201
HAMMOND ST 173               0.03            3,106                  $10,096
HAVENS RD 757               0.14            15,145                $49,222
HAYES ST 772 0.15            16,209 $52,679
HEARTHSTONE DR 2,886 0.55            75,034 $243,861
HICKORY LN 1,351 0.26            24,314 $79,019
HILLSIDE DR 2,399            0.45            41,451                $134,717
HILLS-MILLER RD 796 0.15            17,513 $56,917
KENSINGTON DR 2,452 0.46            61,289 $199,191
LANDEMERE CT 241 0.05            5,788 $18,812
LEWIS ST 483 0.09            14,481 $47,062
LITTLE ST 486 0.09            14,080 $45,759
LUSK LN 558 0.11            6,143 $19,966
MAPLE STREET 812 0.15            17,000 $55,250
MASON AVE 1,060 0.20            21,202 $68,907
MINERAL CT 207 0.04            5,386 $17,505
N FRANKLIN ST 4,102 0.78            126,263 $410,354
N WASHINGTON ST 3,466 0.66            92,551 $300,792
N WASHINGTON ST 1,614            0.31            38,634                $125,562
NEIL ST 717 0.14            10,044 $32,642
NOBLE ST 1,455 0.28            33,353 $108,396
NORTH ST 1,386 0.26            30,482 $99,065
NORTHHAMPTON CT 449 0.09            10,786 $35,053
NUTTER FARMS LN 1,709 0.32            61,510 $199,906
OAK HILL AVE 2,518 0.48            63,132 $205,180
OHIO ST 450 0.09            7,647 $24,854
OHIOHEALTH BLVD 786 0.15            37,706 $122,544
ORCHARD LN 610               0.12            10,976                $35,673
OWEN-FRALEY RD 2,295            0.43            39,010                $126,782
PADDOCK CT 141 0.03            3,532 $11,479
PAGE CT 236               0.04            6,130                  $19,922
PARK LN 639               0.12            11,493                $37,353
PARKER ST 537 0.10            9,664 $31,407
PENICK AVE 1,053 0.20            33,701 $109,528
PERKINS ST 599 0.11            10,176 $33,071
PICKAWAY ST 349 0.07            6,289 $20,441
PINOAK CT 390 0.07            9,361 $30,423
POTTER ST 1,635 0.31            39,388 $128,010
PROVIDENCE LN 1,549 0.29            39,824 $129,428
REID ST 1,110 0.21            19,973 $64,914
RENNER ST 1,041 0.20            14,568 $47,345
ROCK CREEK DR 2,840 0.54            90,879 $295,356
ROSS ST 617 0.12            13,565 $44,087



SHELDON ST 717 0.14            11,479 $37,307
SMITH ST 439               0.08            7,896                  $25,661
SOUTH ST 658 0.12            11,190 $36,368
SPRING ST 1,470 0.28            51,434 $167,161
STILSON ST 728 0.14            11,642 $37,837
SUNBURY RD 129 0.02            3,861 $12,549
SUPREME CT 442 0.08            11,498 $37,370
SYCAMORE LN 911 0.17            33,664 $109,408
TARPY'S LN 796               0.15            14,335                $46,590
TAYLOR AVE 429 0.08            13,730 $44,621
THORNAPPLE TRL 565 0.11            13,551 $44,039
TODD ST 177 0.03            3,177 $10,327
TODD ST EXT. 683               0.13            12,300                $39,976
TOLEDO ST 576 0.11            13,834 $44,960
VANDEMAN AVE 735 0.14            12,497 $40,615
VERNON AVE 4,013 0.76            45,000 $146,250
VINE ST 873 0.17            12,218 $39,709
W FOUNTAIN AVE 1,735 0.33            48,594 $157,930
W HULL DR 351 0.07            11,233 $36,507
W LINCOLN AVE 368 0.07            7,368 $23,946
WALNUT ST 156               0.03            1,562                  $5,076
WEBB ST 600 0.11            12,000 $38,999
WILLOW ST 449               0.09            8,535                  $27,737
WOODLAND AVE 675 0.13            13,498 $43,869
YORK AVE 723               0.14            17,361                $56,424
YORKSHIRE RD 907 0.17            22,668 $73,670

19.63             2,454,317 $7,976,531

Notes:

Included streets have condition ratings as 'Poor' or 'Very Poor' per the 2018 pavement 

condition evaluation.

Average cost to repave streets in "Poor" to "Very Poor" is $400,000 per mile including 

anticipated base repairs, shoulder repairs, areas of full depth replacement, pavement 

planing, use of SAMI, and pavement overlay.





















  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  13    DATE: 01/27/2020 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 20-02    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING:  NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A COMBINED PRELIMINARY AND FINAL 
DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR AN EXPANSION TO CHARTER NEX AT 1188 SOUTH 
HOUK ROAD ON PROPERTY ZONED M-2 (GENERAL MANUFACTURING 
DISTRICT) WHICH ENCOMPASSES APPROXIMATELY 21.783 ACRES. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
See attached staff report. 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To achieve compliance with Section 1129.05 Final Development Plan   
requirements of the zoning code. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission recommended approval by a vote of 7-0 on January 15, 
2020.  
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
PRESENTER(S): 



David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval  
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
See attached 



 ORDINANCE NO. 20-02 
 
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A COMBINED 
PRELIMINARY AND FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN FOR 
AN EXPANSION TO CHARTER NEX AT 1188 SOUTH 
HOUK ROAD ON PROPERTY ZONED M-2 (GENERAL 
MANUFACTURING DISTRICT) WHICH ENCOMPASSES 
APPROXIMATELY 21.783 ACRES.  
  

 WHEREAS, the Planning Commission at its meeting of January 15, 2020 
recommended approval of a Combined Preliminary and Final Development Plan for 
an expansion to Charter Nex at 1188 South Houk Road on property zoned M-2 
(General Manufacturing District) which encompasses approximately 21.783 acres 
(2019-2796). 

 
NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 

Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1.  That the Combined Preliminary and Final Development Plan 
for Plan for an expansion to Charter Nex at 1188 South Houk Road on property 
zoned M-2 (General Manufacturing District) which encompasses approximately 
21.783 acres, is hereby confirmed, approved, and accepted with the following 
conditions that: 
 

1. The Applicant needs to obtain engineering approvals, including any storm 
water and utility issues that need to be worked out through the Engineering 
and Utilities Departments.  All comments regarding the layout and details of 
the project are preliminary and subject to modification or change based on 
the final technical review by the Engineering Department 

2. The site plan shall comply with all fire department requirements. 
3. The required amount of parking spaces shall be 53 with 181 parking spaces 

deferred and shall be constructed by the owner if required by the City.  
4. The proposed building expansion materials and colors shall match the 

existing building as much as practical. 
5. A building permit shall not be issued until a copy of the permanent and 

temporary FAA determination is provided to the City and any conditions 
required by the FAA are met. 
 
SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 

this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the law 
including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 



 
 
VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____  
          ABSTAIN ____ 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2020 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 













































  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  14    DATE: 01/27/2020 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 20-03    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A FINAL DEVELOPMENT PLAN REQUEST BY 
GRDEN LLC, FOR WINTERBROOK PLACE PHASE 1 ON 30.452 ACRES 
CONTAINING 66 SINGLE FAMILY LOTS ON PROPERTY ZONED R-3 PMU (ONE 
FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT WITH A PLANNED MIXED-USE OVERLAY 
DISTRICT) AND LOCATED ON WINTERBOURNE DRIVE, SIENNA GLENN 
DRIVE, MAHOGANY DRIVE, GARDENIA LANE AND SILVER PINE LANE. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
See attached report 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To achieve compliance with Chapter 1129 Procedures of the zoning code. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission approved this case 7-0 on January 15, 2020. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
 



PRESENTER(S): 
David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval as submitted with the documented conditions. 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
See attached 



 ORDINANCE NO. 20-03 
 
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A FINAL DEVELOPMENT 
PLAN REQUEST BY GRDEN LLC, FOR WINTERBROOK 
PLACE PHASE 1 ON 30.452 ACRES CONTAINING 66 
SINGLE FAMILY LOTS ON PROPERTY ZONED R-3 PMU 
(ONE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT WITH A 
PLANNED MIXED-USE OVERLAY DISTRICT) AND 
LOCATED ON WINTERBOURNE DRIVE, SIENNA GLENN 
DRIVE, MAHOGANY DRIVE, GARDENIA LANE AND 
SILVER PINE LANE.  
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission at its meeting on January 15, 2020 
recommended approval of a Final Development Plan request by Grden LLC., for 
Winterbrook Place Phase 1 on 30.452 acres containing 66 single family lots on 
property zoned R-3 PMU (One Family Residential District with a Planned Mixed-
Use Overlay District) and located on Winterbourne Drive, Sienna Glenn Drive, 
Mahogany Drive, Gardenia Lane and Silver Pine Lane (PC 2019-2890).   
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1.  That the Final Development Plan request by Grden LLC., for 
Winterbrook Place Phase 1 on 30.452 acres containing 66 single family lots on 
property zoned R-3 PMU (One Family Residential District with a Planned Mixed-
Use Overlay District) and located on Winterbourne Drive, Sienna Glenn Drive, 
Mahogany Drive, Gardenia Lane and Silver Pine Lane, is hereby confirmed, 
approved, and accepted with the following conditions that: 

1. The Applicant needs to obtain final engineering approvals, including 
any storm water and utility issues that need to be worked out through 
the Engineering and Utilities Departments. All comments regarding the 
layout and details of the project are preliminary and subject to 
modification or change based on the final technical review by the 
Engineering Department. 

2. The developer shall be responsible for any improvements and/or 
financial obligations of the traffic impact study per the City Engineer and 
County Engineer. 

3. The primary access to the development shall be from Peachblow Road at 
a proposed roundabout to be constructed in the future by the Delaware 
County Engineer (a fair share amount would be paid by developer per 
the County’s requirements) for the subject development and the 
proposed developments located south of Peachblow Road in the County. 
If the County Engineer does not construct the proposed the roundabout 
prior to the developer initiating construction of the subject development, 



the proposed access point to Peachblow Road shall be a traditional 
intersection with a stop sign. 

4. All retention ponds shall be setback from a public road per the City 
Engineer. 

5. The lots and houses shall comply with the minimum bulk and setback 
requirements in the approved development text. 

6. The single-family houses shall comply with the minimum architectural 
standards in the approved development text and per applicable sections 
of the current zoning code. 

7. Patios, decks and other exterior improvements shall be allowed to extend 
15 feet into the 30-foot rear yard setback per the approved development 
text. 

8. A minimum 3-6-foot-high mound with landscaping shall be located along 
east side of Winterbourne Drive to be consistent with the roadway 
treatment in the Communities of Glenross and a 3-6 high mound with 
landscaping shall be located along Peachblow Road to be consistent with 
the treatment along Belmont Place. 

9. In Reserve A per the landscape plan in the approved Preliminary 
Development Plan, there shall be benches along the bike path along with 
the landscaping which shall include shrubs, perennials and ornamental 
grasses. 

10. A street tree plan shall be submitted and approved by the Shade Tree 
Commission. 

11. The bike path along Peachblow Road shall be extended to 
Winterbourne Drive in this Phase. The biked paths located within an 
easement dedicated to the City and shall be maintained by the 
Homeowner’s Association. 

12. The street lighting plan shall be submitted, reviewed and approved 
by the City and achieve compliance with all zoning requirements. 

13. The development shall be in the Delaware South New Community 
Authority, subject to the single-family lot transportation fee ($1,000 per 
dwelling unit) in effect at the time of building permit issuance and is 
subject to the South East Highland Sanitary Sewer additional capacity 
charge of $3,200 per dwelling units. 

14. The developer is identifying storm sewer easements in open space 
areas (reserve areas) along Winterbourne Drive, along the eastern 
boundary of the property and adjacent to the Gundling property that 
requires mounding, tree planting and/or tree preservation per the 
landscape and tree preservation plans of the approved Preliminary 
Development Plan and Preliminary Subdivision Plat. The landscaping as 
preliminarily proposed is non-negotiable and is a priority over the 
stormwater line location according to the City prior approvals. Planning 



staff’s preference is to allow mounding and landscaping within the 
stormwater easement in this case. However, it maybe that the applicant 
will have to re-route this line to an alternate and potentially more 
expensive location to preserve the mounding and landscaping as well as 
provide adequate stormwater management per the City.  If the 
stormwater lines are moved into the rear yards of the proposed lots there 
shall be sufficient room in the rear yards to accommodate a normal 
deck, patio, fence and other typical improvements. The size of the rear 
yards shall be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Planning and 
Community Development staff prior to construction drawing approval or 
the stormwater line shall be relocated to another alignment.  

15. Phase 2 or the next constructed phase shall be required to connect to 
the required secondary access point to the west from Belmont Place 
(Ensigns Lane). 
 

SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 
this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the law 
including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 
 
VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____  
          ABSTAIN ____ 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2020 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



  FACT SHEET 
 
 
AGENDA ITEM NO:  15    DATE: 01/27/2020 
 
ORDINANCE NO: 20-04    RESOLUTION NO: 
 
READING: FIRST     PUBLIC HEARING: NO 
 
 
TO:  Mayor and Members of City Council  
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
VIA:  David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
 
TITLE OF PROPOSED ORDINANCE/RESOLUTION:  
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A FINAL SUBDIVISION PLAT REQUEST BY 
GRDEN LLC, FOR WINTERBROOK PLACE PHASE 1 ON 30.452 ACRES 
CONTAINING 66 SINGLE FAMILY LOTS ON PROPERTY ZONED R-3 PMU (ONE 
FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT WITH A PLANNED MIXED-USE OVERLAY 
DISTRICT) AND LOCATED ON WINTERBOURNE DRIVE, SIENNA GLENN 
DRIVE, MAHOGANY DRIVE, GARDENIA LANE AND SILVER PINE LANE.  
 
BACKGROUND: 
See attached report 
 
REASON WHY LEGISLATION IS NEEDED: 
To achieve compliance with Chapter 1129 Procedures of the zoning code. 
 
COMMITTEE RECOMMENDATION: 
Planning Commission approved this case 7-0 on January 15, 2020. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT(S): 
N/A 
 
POLICY CHANGES: 
N/A 
 
 



PRESENTER(S): 
David Efland, Planning and Community Development Director 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval as submitted with the documented conditions. 
 
ATTACHMENT(S) 
See attached 



 ORDINANCE NO. 20-04 
 
AN ORDINANCE APPROVING A FINAL SUBDIVISION 
PLAT REQUEST BY GRDEN LLC, FOR WINTERBROOK 
PLACE PHASE 1 ON 30.452 ACRES CONTAINING 66 
SINGLE FAMILY LOTS ON PROPERTY ZONED R-3 PMU 
(ONE FAMILY RESIDENTIAL DISTRICT WITH A 
PLANNED MIXED-USE OVERLAY DISTRICT) AND 
LOCATED ON WINTERBOURNE DRIVE, SIENNA GLENN 
DRIVE, MAHOGANY DRIVE, GARDENIA LANE AND 
SILVER PINE LANE. 
 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission at its meeting on January 15, 2020 
recommended approval of a Final Subdivision Plat request by Grden LLC., for 
Winterbrook Place Phase 1 on 30.452 acres containing 66 single family lots on 
property zoned R-3 PMU (One Family Residential District with a Planned Mixed-
Use Overlay District) and located on Winterbourne Drive, Sienna Glenn Drive, 
Mahogany Drive, Gardenia Lane and Silver Pine Lane (PC 2019-2892). 
 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED by the Council of the City of 
Delaware, State of Ohio: 
 
 SECTION 1.  That the Final Subdivision Plat request by Grden LLC., for 
Winterbrook Place Phase 1 on 30.452 acres containing 66 single family lots on 
property zoned R-3 PMU (One Family Residential District with a Planned Mixed-
Use Overlay District) and located on Winterbourne Drive, Sienna Glenn Drive, 
Mahogany Drive, Gardenia Lane and Silver Pine Lane, is hereby confirmed, 
approved, and accepted with the following conditions that: 

1. The Applicant needs to obtain final engineering approvals, including 
any storm water and utility issues that need to be worked out through 
the Engineering and Utilities Departments. All comments regarding the 
layout and details of the project are preliminary and subject to 
modification or change based on the final technical review by the 
Engineering Department. 

2. The developer shall be responsible for any improvements and/or 
financial obligations of the traffic impact study per the City Engineer and 
County Engineer. 

3. The primary access to the development shall be from Peachblow Road at 
a proposed roundabout to be constructed in the future by the Delaware 
County Engineer (a fair share amount would be paid by developer per 
the County’s requirements) for the subject development and the 
proposed developments located south of Peachblow Road in the County. 
If the County Engineer does not construct the proposed the roundabout 
prior to the developer initiating construction of the subject development, 



the proposed access point to Peachblow Road shall be a traditional 
intersection with a stop sign. 

4. All retention ponds shall be setback from a public road per the City 
Engineer. 

5. The lots and houses shall comply with the minimum bulk and setback 
requirements in the approved development text. 

6. The single-family houses shall comply with the minimum architectural 
standards in the approved development text and per applicable sections 
of the current zoning code. 

7. Patios, decks and other exterior improvements shall be allowed to extend 
15 feet into the 30-foot rear yard setback per the approved development 
text. 

8. A minimum 3-6-foot-high mound with landscaping shall be located along 
east side of Winterbourne Drive to be consistent with the roadway 
treatment in the Communities of Glenross and a 3-6 high mound with 
landscaping shall be located along Peachblow Road to be consistent with 
the treatment along Belmont Place. 

9. In Reserve A per the landscape plan in the approved Preliminary 
Development Plan, there shall be benches along the bike path along with 
the landscaping which shall include shrubs, perennials and ornamental 
grasses. 

10. A street tree plan shall be submitted and approved by the Shade Tree 
Commission. 

11. The bike path along Peachblow Road shall be extended to 
Winterbourne Drive in this Phase. The biked paths located within an 
easement dedicated to the City and shall be maintained by the 
Homeowner’s Association. 

12. The street lighting plan shall be submitted, reviewed and approved 
by the City and achieve compliance with all zoning requirements. 

13. The development shall be in the Delaware South New Community 
Authority, subject to the single-family lot transportation fee ($1,000 per 
dwelling unit) in effect at the time of building permit issuance and is 
subject to the South East Highland Sanitary Sewer additional capacity 
charge of $3,200 per dwelling units. 

14. The developer is identifying storm sewer easements in open space 
areas (reserve areas) along Winterbourne Drive, along the eastern 
boundary of the property and adjacent to the Gundling property that 
requires mounding, tree planting and/or tree preservation per the 
landscape and tree preservation plans of the approved Preliminary 
Development Plan and Preliminary Subdivision Plat. The landscaping as 
preliminarily proposed is non-negotiable and is a priority over the 
stormwater line location according to the City prior approvals. Planning 



staff’s preference is to allow mounding and landscaping within the 
stormwater easement in this case. However, it maybe that the applicant 
will have to re-route this line to an alternate and potentially more 
expensive location to preserve the mounding and landscaping as well as 
provide adequate stormwater management per the City.  If the 
stormwater lines are moved into the rear yards of the proposed lots there 
shall be sufficient room in the rear yards to accommodate a normal 
deck, patio, fence and other typical improvements. The size of the rear 
yards shall be demonstrated to the satisfaction of the Planning and 
Community Development staff prior to construction drawing approval or 
the stormwater line shall be relocated to another alignment.  

15. Phase 2 or the next constructed phase shall be required to connect to 
the required secondary access point to the west from Belmont Place 
(Ensigns Lane). 
 

SECTION 2.  This Council finds and determines that all formal actions of 
this Council and any of its committees concerning and relating to the passage of 
this Ordinance were taken in an open meeting of this Council, and that all 
deliberations of this Council and any of its committees that resulted in those 
formal actions were in meetings open to the public, all in compliance with the law 
including Section 121.22 of the Revised Code. 
 
 
VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____  
          ABSTAIN ____ 
 
PASSED: _________________________, 2020 YEAS____ NAYS____ 
      ABSTAIN ____ 
 
 
ATTEST: _______________________________       ________________________ 

CITY CLERK    MAYOR 



































































































City Manager Report 20200127 
 

 
TO:  Mayor Riggle and Members of Council 
 
FROM: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 
SUBJECT: Miscellaneous Matters 
 
DATE: January 23, 2020 
 
 
1. Calendar 
 See Attached 
 
2. Per Section 73 Of The City Charter The City Manager Is To Report 

Contract Agreements 
 N/A 
 
3. Manager Meetings/Events 
 January 6 
  Rotary 
  Council Work Session 
 January 8 
  Main Street Delaware Heritage Ohio Accreditation 
 January 9-10 
  Moody’s Bond Rating Meeting – Chicago 
 January 13 
  Rotary 
  City Council Meeting 
 January 16 
  Annual State of the City 
 January 17 
  MOMA Meeting 
 January 20 
  Martin Luther King Jr. Breakfast 
 January 21 
  Strand Board Meeting 
 January 23 
  PROS CONSULTING 
 
4. Required Reading/Attachments 
 A. Memo from Bill Ferrigno regarding EVT Stations and Solar Panel 
  
  
  
  
  



January  
 

 

  2020 
Monthly Meeting Schedule  

Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday 
   1 2 3 4 

   City Offices Closed:  
New Years Day 

   

5 6 7 8 9 10 11 
 Council Work Session 

6:30 p.m. 
 BZA 6:30 p.m. 

canceled 
   

12 13 14 15 16 17 18 
 Council 7 p.m. Sister City 6:00 p.m. Planning Commission 

6:30 p.m. 
Airport Commission 
6:30 p.m. 

  

19 20 21 22 23 24 25 
 City Offices Closed: 

Martin Luther King Jr. 
Day 

 HPC 6:30 p.m. Parks and Recreation 
Board Meeting 6:30 p.m. 

  

26 27 28 29 30 31  
 Council 7 p.m.      

       
       

*** Parks and Recreation Advisory Board Meeting will be held on January 23 to allow for board to meet with Pros Consulting.   



February  
 

 

  2020 
Monthly Meeting Schedule  

Sunday Monday Tuesday Wednesday Thursday Friday Saturday 
      1 

       

2 3 4 5 6 7 8 
 Council Work Session 

6:30 p.m. 
Public Works/Public 
Utilities Committee 
6:00 p.m. 

Civil Service 3:30 p.m. 
Planning Commission 
6:30 p.m. 

   

9 10 11 12 13 14 15 
 City Council 6 p.m. @ City Hall 

Joint Mtg with Council/School 
Board 7 p.m. @ Willis *** 

 BZA – 6:30 p.m.    

16 17 18 19 20 21 22 
 Parking and Safety 

Committee 6 p.m. 
     

23 24 25 26 27 28 29 
 City Council 7 p.m. Shade Tree Commission 

6:30 p.m. 
Historic Preservation 
Commission 6:3o p.m. 

   

       
       

*** City Council will meet at 6:00 p.m. on February 10 at City Hall for the regular meeting of Council and proceed at 7:00 p.m. to the joint meeting of Council and the Delaware City School Board at Willis Education 
Center.    



 

 

 

MEMORANDUM 

TO: R. Thomas Homan, City Manager 
 Delaware City Council 
 
FROM: William L. Ferrigno, P.E., Director of Public Works/City Engineer 
 
DATE:  January 2, 2020 
  

 
RE: Electric Vehicle Charging Station and Public Works Solar Panels Updates 
 

As part of the 2018 construction of the new Refuse Equipment building, a solar panel array was 

installed along the north property line.  The panels have been tied into the building power and 

subsequently the electric grid for just over a year now.  Based on data 

provided by the panel vendor, Solar Edge, the panels generated 10,874 

kWh of power during the initial year or about 28% of the building annual 

energy usage, with a value of $2,757.  Data shows that the panels do not 

have the capacity to provide for the entire power needs of the Refuse 

building at any point during any of the twelve months of operation and 

therefore do not contribute power back to the power grid.    Though 28% 

of the building’s power consumption is provided through solar, the initial 

$87,000 installation investment will not be paid for through excess 

power generation of the solar panel system or with monthly power savings in the useful 25-30 

year life of the unit.           

A second sustainability project was 

completed early in 2019 and involved 

the installation of a two-port Level 2 

electric vehicle charging station in the 

East William Street public parking lot.  

The spaces are accessible to all electric 

vehicle owners with ChargePoint 

accounts.  Rates were established to 

encourage turnover to allow for a larger 

number of users to attend downtown 

meetings, frequent restaurants, or 



 
 

 

attend any of the many downtown festivals or activities.  The rates were initially set at $0.75 

per hour for up to 3 hours, then increase to $5.00 per hour thereafter with a maximum of 

$25/day.  Charges are collected through the ChargePoint account with distribution of revenues 

back to the city in the form of monthly payments, less the 10% administrative fee charged by 

the vendor.  The City is responsible to directly pay AEP invoicing for the cost of power used at 

the charging station.  

During the first six-month period of operation the charging station 

has generated $326 in revenue from user fees.  The cost of the 

12,330 kWh of electric power consumed over this same period is 

$137 and administrative fee of ChargePoint $33.00, leaving a net 

revenue to the City of $156 for operating the charging stations over 

the six-month initial pilot.  Additional analysis shows the average 

use of the charging station over the six-month period was 1.2 uses 

per day at an average time of 1 hour and 20 minutes per use.   

The initial $25,000 project installation, setup, and maintenance 

program for the pilot initiative was covered in part by a $20,000 

AEP grant.   The grant covers the operation and maintenance of the 

charging station for a period of five years.  Without substantial public or private subsidy, the 

revenue currently generated from the charging stations is not sufficient to pay for the 

installation and operating costs.    Additional charging stations would likely faced with the same 

financial limitations. 

If demand by the community for additional electric 

vehicle charging stations is made, an alternative 

approach would be to allow the private sector to meet 

the demand for electric vehicle charging as it similarly 

does with the provision of conventional fuel for gas 

powered vehicles.  This approach eliminates the need 

for public tax dollars to supplement the electric vehicle 

fuel costs of individual citizens.  To encourage this 

model, the City could designate public parking spaces 

available to vendors willing to construct and operate EV charging station infrastructure.  The 

city’s exposure would be reduced from one of subsidizing the cost of electric fuel, to the 

collection of a monthly parking space lease payment from vendors providing charging station 

services.  

In summary, although neither of the sustainability projects are fiscally beneficial given current 

technology, it is important to continue to participate in these and future inititatives to support 

the advancement of new technologies.   Responsible participation by both public and private 

entities will eventually lead to the development of more efficient and financially sustainable 

energy projects that benefit the City and citizen alike. 


	01 20200127 council agenda
	CITY COUNCIL CHAMBERS

	02 council minutes
	03 20191008 sister city minutes
	03 20191204 planning minutes
	04 20190516 airport minutes
	05 fact sheet res 20-08, reschedule council mtg
	06 res 20-08 ,reschedule council mtg
	RESOLUTION 20-08

	07 Fact Sheet Res 20-09, berkshire jedd 2 appointment
	08 res 20-09 ,  appt berkshire jedd
	09 20191216 JEDD 2 First Amendment
	10 res 19-50, appoint jedd 2
	11 fact sheet res 20-10,  committee appointments
	12 res 20-10, committee appoints
	13 Fact Sheet Res 20-11, Ramp B Resurfacing 1.16.20
	14 Resolution 20-11, Ramp B Resurfacing 1.16.20
	15 airport map
	16 fact sheet res 20 -12 Canal St Ped Xing & Restricted Parking (1)
	17 res 20-12 Canal St Ped Xing & Restricted Parking
	RESOLUTION NO. 20-12

	18 Exhibit A - Canal St Mid-Block Crosswalk
	19 Main BHM Flyer 1 13 20
	20 fact sheet ord 19 -63 evans farm annex
	21 ord 19 -63, evans farm annex (2)
	22 Evans Farm Memo
	23 Evans Farm NCA (002)
	23 Evans Farm NCA Analysis (Peachblow Site  - 25-Year NCA) (12.12.19) v2
	24  Granting of Prayer-Evans Farm Annex
	25  res 19-37, Evan Farms Res of Services
	26 fact sheet res 20-13, afscme changes
	27 res 20-13,  accept changes afscme clerical
	28 City Package Proposal 3, 2.25, 2 with new positions and insurance reopener
	29 fact sheet ord  20-01,  motor vehicle permissive tax
	30 ord 20-01, motor vehicle permissive tax
	VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:  YEAS____NAYS____

	31 2020 Roadway Maintenance Program & Funding Recommendations 1.23.20
	32 Street Maintenance Facts 1.21.20
	33 Resurfaceing Program - 'POOR' & 'VERY POOR' Streets 1.21.20
	34 2011 permissive tax testimony
	35 2017 permissive tax testimony
	36 factsheet 20-02, 2019-2796 Charter Nex CPFDP
	37 ord 20-02 , 2019-2796 Charter Nex  CPFDP
	ORDINANCE NO. 20-02
	VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____

	38 2019-2796 cpfdp charter nex
	39 Fact Sheet 20-03 , 2019-2890 Winterbrook Place Phase 1 FDP
	40 ord 20-03 , 2019-2890 Winterbrook Place Phase 1  FDP
	ORDINANCE NO. 20-03
	VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____

	41 Fact Sheet 20-04, 2019-2892 Winterbrook Place Phase 1 FSP
	42 ord 20-04 , 2019-2892 Winterbrook Place Phase 1  FSP
	ORDINANCE NO. 20-04
	VOTE ON RULE SUSPENSION:   YEAS____NAYS____

	43 2019-2890-2892 grden winterbrook fdp
	44 Finance Director EOY Report
	45 city managers report 20200113
	46 January
	47 February
	48 EV Station and Solar Panel Updates 1.2.20



